1963

# Paul Rubey and Carol Rubey v. Morris T. Wood and Ruby J. Wood : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. That the court erred in not construing the agreements herein strictly against the respondents who prepared the contracts.

2. That the trial court erred in refusing the appellants' Motion to Dismiss herein on the ground that the

payments had not been made nor tendered on the contract as required by the contract nor within the 90-day grace period.

3. The District Court erred in not granting nor taking further testimony or evidence with respect to the following matters:

(a) To determine the intention of the parties as to performance of the contracts.

(b) To settle disputed questions of fact.

(c) To make a finding as to the time each annual installment was to be paid.

(d) To determine the intention of the parties with respect to title insurance and surveys.

4. That the trial court erred in refusing to allow evidence and testimony concerning the intention of the parties as to the use of the words, "or more," in the said contracts and in making a finding and decree as to the language as a matter of law.

5. That the District Court erred in refusing to permit a jury trial with respect to further hearings or evidence concerning disputed facts and intention of the parties, and this error was in violation of the Seventh Amendment of the Constitution of the United States.

6. The trial court erred in denying appellants' contention that the appellants be allowed interest at the legal rate on the contract balances.

7. That the District Court erred in dismissing Civil Case No. 139263 after it was consolidated and without the appellants being given their statutory right to amendment. That the court also erred in denying the consolidation of Civil Case Nos. 124832, 139046 and 139263.

8. That the court erred in directing the clerk of the court to make and deliver a Warranty Deed to the respondents and as set out in the Decree of November 28, 1962.

9. That it was error for the clerk to pay attorney's fees and costs of the deposit that had been made to the clerk of the court.

10. It was error for the Court to grant attorneys' fees to respondents based on the account of their attorneys.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah has previously heard and ruled on the validity of the contracts in this matter under Case No. 9447. The briefs submitted in that matter and the decision therein are respectfully referred to in explanation of the background in this matter.

No additional testimony has been taken before the District Court at Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and the rulings and judgments herein appealed from were made by the District Court as a matter of law and after hearing arguments by counsel.

The District Court has entered two different judgments herein, both of which are appealed from by this joint appeal. Said judgments directed performance of the agreements between the parties pursuant to respondents' theory of the case. First of said judgments was entered November 28, 1962, and appellants objection thereto was denied December 18, 1962. Appeal is taken from both of these rulings.

While this appeal was pending, it became apparent that there was a good possibility of a number of appeals as this contract covered a twenty-year period. Parties as a joint effort to save time and limit appeals, agreed to the appointment of a referee by the District Court. This was done, a report was rendered by the referee and the court at a later date entered a Judgment and Decree confirming and adopting the referee's report. Appeal is taken from the judgment entered and overruling of appellants' objections to said judgment.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The contracts herein involved were entered into between appellants and respondents on April 18, 1959 and May 11, 1959, and copies of said agreements are set out in appellants' brief in Case No. 9447 of this court.

Mr. and Mrs. Wood have had little experience in legal transactions and were inexperienced and naive in such matters (see R-105-108 original record first



appeal) while Paul Rubey has been engaged in the sale and handling of real estate in Salt Lake County for about 10 years (see R-148-153 original record).

The original and first judgment rendered by the District Court in this matter pertained merely to upholding the contract and not vitiating it for fraud as claimed. The Supreme Court of Utah sustained this judgment (see decree in Case No. 9447 filed July 20, 1962) and so while the contract was sustained, the interpretation and performance of the contracts in question had not been decided or ruled upon by the first appeal in this matter. This matter is now before the Supreme Court of Utah on the interpretation and performance under the contracts between these parties.

## ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE COURT ERRED IN NOT CONSTRUING THE AGREEMENTS HEREIN STRICTLY AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS, WHO PREPARED THE CONTRACTS.

The cardinal rule is well expressed in 12 Am. Jur. 795, Sec. 252, as follows:

“Doubtful language in contracts should be interpreted most strongly against the party who uses it. A written agreement should, in case of doubt be interpreted against the party who has drawn it.”

Application of this doctrine has only recently been applied by the Supreme Court of Utah in *Vera M. Stout vs. Washington Fire and Marine Insurance Co.*, decided October 11, 1963 — found at 385 Pac. 2nd 608 — the Supreme Court said:

“Any doubts or uncertainties as to the meaning or effect of the policy must be construed so as to resolve said doubts or uncertainties against the defendant who prepared the contract.”

In the current case, Rubey typed up the one contract and prepared the other in his own handwriting. His background and experience are so evidenced in the language used.

Instead of following this rule, the District Court ruled in favor of respondents in almost every instance as to these contracts.

**2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING THE APPELLANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS' HEREIN ON THE GROUND THAT THE PAYMENTS HAD NOT BEEN MADE OR TENDERED ON THE CONTRACT AS REQUIRED BY THE CONTRACT NOR WITHIN THE 90-DAY GRACE PERIOD.**

Based upon the recognized rule that a contract should be construed strictly against the one who prepared it, the 90-day grace period in this agreement should be so construed and when payment was not made nor tendered in the grace period, the contract was

breached, and therefore the District Court should have so ruled. Such a ruling, of course, would negate the contract and render it unenforceable so far as the respondents are concerned because of the breach.

If payments are required to be made in installments, then failure to make payment of any installment or within any grace period, is a breach of contract. The rule is set out in American Jurisprudence, Volume 55, at page 1014: “ \* \* \* and if payment is to be made in installments, default in the payment of any installment is a distinct breach and gives the vendor the right to declare a forfeiture therefor.”

The case of Reddish vs. Smith is cited above and in that decision the court states: “The rule is laid down by 2 Warv Vend pp. 835, 836: “A neglect or refusal of either party to perform on his part will, as a rule, place him in the power of the other party, where he is not only derelict, to avoid the contract or note, at his pleasure.” See Reddish vs. Smith, 10 Wash 178, 38 Pac. 1003.

In Sherman vs. Western Construction Co., Inc., the court referred to the above case and said: “The general rule is stated in 17 C.J.S., 932, as follows: Where the covenants or promises in a contract are dependent, *only one who has performed, or tendered performance* on his part, can enforce the contract.” (See Sherman vs. Western Constructon Co., Inc., a Washington case cited at 127 Pac. 2nd 673). (Italics ours).

3. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING NOR TAKING FURTHER TESTIMONY OR EVIDENCE IN THIS MATTER AND WITH RESPECT TO THE FOLLOWING MATTERS:

(a) TO DETERMINE THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES AS TO PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACTS.

(b) TO SETTLE DISPUTED QUESTIONS OF FACT.

(c) TO MAKE A FINDING AS TO THE TIME EACH ANNUAL INSTALLMENT WAS TO BE PAID.

(d) TO DETERMINE THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES WITH RESPECT TO TITLE INSURANCE AND SURVEYS.

With respect to the above points, we respectfully refer to the general statement as set out in 55 Am. Jur. Sec. 97, as follows:

“The cardinal principle in the interpretation of contracts, including offers, options and contracts for the sale of land, is to ascertain the intention of the parties and give effect thereto if it can be collected from the instrument and the circumstances without violating some settled legal principle. The intent of the parties thus expressed is to be carried into effect so far as consistent with rules of law. Words are to be construed in the manner in which the parties understood them; resort is to be had to every

clause and word in the instrument for the purpose of ascertaining that understanding and intent. A land contract is to be viewed as a whole and in the light of the circumstances surrounding its execution, with a view to determining the intention of the parties. Where it consists of or is evidenced by several connected instruments constituting one entire transaction, they must be construed together as a whole, and not as separate, independent purchases or transactions."

It is also evident from the following section in Am. Jur. (Sec. 98) that parol evidence may be used to establish any fact that does not vary, alter or contradict the terms of the instrument or the legal effect of the terms used therein. The court may take into consideration conditions and circumstances under which the parties contracted and construed the contract in the light thereof. See 36 LRA (NS) 313.

Only by the aid of parol evidence can the court ascertain the circumstances under which a contract was made, the relation of the parties, and what was their mutual knowledge. See 55 ALR 1153.

We respectfully submit that there were many things discussed and apparently agreed upon between these parties and the same was then placed in writing, but in the language and terminology of the respondents' choosing. How else can a determination be made of what the respective parties considered that language to mean, without hearing testimony of each of them as to what was discussed and why that provision went into the contract.

4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW EVIDENCE CONCERNING PARTIES' INTENTION AS TO USE OF THE WORDS, "OR MORE," IN SAID CONTRACTS AND IN MAKING A FINDING AND DECREE THEREON AS A MATTER OF LAW.

We respectfully submit that testimony and evidence should be had to determine intent of parties with respect to use of the words, "or more," in the contracts. Same legal principles apply as in Point No. 3, but this one is so important it merits separate consideration.

We admit that in most cases this language is put in to give the buyer the right to pay more if he wants to, but in this instance it was put in to explain and justify to seller that more would be paid and so explained to him by Rubey. We respectfully submit that the words, "or more" are not limited to benefits and rights for Rubey alone.

5. THAT THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT A JURY TRIAL WITH RESPECT TO FURTHER HEARINGS OR EVIDENCE CONCERNING DISPUTED FACTS, AND INTENTION OF THE PARTIES, AND THIS ERROR WAS IN VIOLATION OF THE SEVENTH AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

The Constitution of the United States, the Utah State Constitution and our Rules of Civil Procedure all direct that a jury trial shall be had upon demand of any party, unless it is an equity proceeding or some other situation where a jury trial is not appropriate.

Attention is respectfully directed to *Holland vs. Wilson*, a Utah case decided July 8, 1958, found at 327 Pac. 2d 250. In this case, the court stated as follows:

“We are of the opinion that where the question is presented as to the right to possession, the right to a jury trial is guaranteed. Only by such a construction can the section be liberally construed to effect what we believe were the objects and intent of the same.”

**6. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' CONTENTION THAT THE APPELLANTS BE ALLOWED INTEREST AT THE LEGAL RATE ON THE CONTRACT BALANCES.**

The law has long been settled in Utah that interest is allowed on debts overdue, even in absence of statute or contract providing therefor. See *Wasatch Mining Co. vs. Crescent Mining Co.*, 7 Utah 8, 24 Pacific 586. Affirmed 151 U.S. 317, 14 S. Ct. 348.

There is no provision in the contracts between these parties for forbearance of interest, and as such under custom and law interest should be allowed. Or, if there is a question about interest, then evidence should have been taken to determine the intention of the parties as to interest.

7. THAT THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING CIVIL CASE NO. 139263 AFTER IT WAS CONSOLIDATED AND WITHOUT THE APPELLANTS BEING GIVEN THEIR STATUTORY RIGHT TO AMENDMENT. THAT THE COURT ALSO ERRED IN DENYING THE CONSOLIDATION OF CIVIL CASE NOS. 124832, 139046 and 139263.

Appellants in this matter, filed a separate action identified as Case No. 139263 in the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and the same asking for a declaratory relief with respect to the agreements between these parties. The District Court granted the motion for consolidation and then immediately dismissed the same, and the same was dismissed without appellants being given their statutory right to amendment. It was also error for the trial court to assume jurisdiction of a motion to dismiss a new case, as this matter should have gone before the regular law and motion court for disposition. That the District Court also erred in denying consolidation and hearing of Civil Case Nos. 124832, 139046 and 139263 as they all arise and flow from the contracts between these parties and are all based upon the interpretation of the said agreements, and damages or rights that flow from the same.

8. THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO MAKE AND DELIVER A WARRANT



DEED TO THE RESPONDENTS AND AS SET OUT IN THE DECREE OF NOVEMBER 28, 1962.

9. THAT IT WAS ERROR FOR THE CLERK TO PAY ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS OUT OF THE DEPOSIT THAT HAD BEEN MADE TO THE CLERK OF THE COURT.

We respectfully submit that the District Court did not have the authority nor the right to direct the Clerk of the Court to issue a Warranty Deed for the appellants as this deprived the appellants of their property without due process of law, was an exercise of authority not extended to District Court Judges and was made in violation of third party rights who had proper liens against the property in question. We submit that the court may have had the authority to issue a decree in which it would be adjudged and decreed that certain property was then the property of respondents, but we respectfully submit that the District Court did not have the authority nor the right to have the Clerk of the Court sign a Warranty Deed for and on behalf of these appellants.

It is respectfully submitted that the District Judge did not have the authority to act as he did and order the clerk to issue a warranty deed for the appellants. Under the provisions of 78-7-18, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the court has powers conferred by law, and

these powers do not extend to cover the present act of the district court in ordering the execution of a deed.

The general rule requires a judge to exercise his judicial authority in person without delegation to another. The jurisdiction and powers of a judge extend and are limited to those fixed by law. Beyond that he cannot act; nor is he required to do so. See Vol. 48, *Corpus Juris Secundum*, at page 1008.

#### 10. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO GRANT ATTORNEYS' FEES TO RESPONDENTS BASED ON THE ACCOUNT OF THEIR ATTORNEYS.

The court herein made an award of attorneys' fees to respondents based upon counsel's statement of account. We respectfully urge this was error for the following reasons:

(a) Any award of attorneys' fees was premature until this present appeal was settled.

(b) Attorneys' fees should be awarded upon reasonable basis and not upon an attorney's account rendered to respondent. On respondent's first motion for attorneys' fees the same was denied but allowance given to amend because counsel had attempted to re-evaluate attorneys' fees previously awarded. Then on hearing, the entire amount was allowed as petitioned, but this covered only attorneys' fees from the last time award was made.

(c) If we made a strict construction against respondents, then no attorneys' fees should be allowed as contract does not mention attorney, but refers to "at-troney."

## CONCLUSION

We respectfully submit that the two or more judgments and decrees entered by the district court should be reversed, and that this matter should be remanded with instructions to the lower court to take evidence and hear testimony with respect to the disputed points of the contracts involved, that the district court be ordered to construe the contracts strictly against the respondents; that direction be given to hear particularly evidence concerning the meaning of the words "or more"; that should the matter be remanded for hearing that all three actions be consolidated for trial and that trial be had by jury.

D. EUGENE LIVINGSTON and  
WILLIAM J. CAYIAS

405 Continental Bank Bldg.  
Salt Lake City, Utah