1964

## Paul Rubey and Carol Rubey v. Morris T. Wood and Ruby J. Wood : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

where the facts affecting the terms of the written instrument are in dispute as where the instruments have been lost, in which case the jury may find what the terms of the contract were. *Verdi vs. Helper State Bank*, 57 U. 502, p. 510, 196 P. 225 (1921).

In Title 78-21-3 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, it is stated that the Court is to decide questions of law, including the construction of statutes and other writings. It was thus for the Court below, not a jury, to interpret the contracts in evidence.

Appellants cite *Holland vs. Wilson*, 8 U. 2d 11, 327 P. 2d 250 (1958) which case is not in point. That action was one to quiet title, an action at law, not one in equity for the construction or interpretation of written documents as is the instant case. True, appellants herein originally interposed a counterclaim to quiet title, but that did not convert the action to one at law. In *Butler Bros. Development Company vs. Butler*, 111 Vt. 329, 108 P. 2d 1041 (1941), it was held that imposing a legal defense to an equitable action does not as a general rule entitle a party to a jury trial. (Accord: *Holland vs. Wilson, supra*; *Newbern vs. Farris*, 149 Okl. 74, 299, P. 192 (1931).) Appellants, by their counterclaim to quiet title, did not become entitled to a jury trial. Furthermore, the lower court, prior to the first appeal, expressly dismissed all of the appellants' counterclaims (R-9833, p. 12) so that subsequently there was no issue to quiet title before the court.

Even if appellants below had been entitled to a jury trial they waived such right by failing to de-

mand a jury trial. The general rule is that a failure to demand a jury trial or properly to give notice that one is desired within the time provided by statute constitutes or gives rise to a presumption that that right has been waived. Rule 38 *U.R.C.P*; *Duignan vs. U. S.*, 274 U. S. 195, 71 L. Ed. 996, 47 S. Ct. 566 (1927); *Gulbenkian vs. Gulbenkian*, 147 F. 2d 173 (1945).

Several documents appear in the record in which appellants generally allude to their claim that the court should take additonal testimony and evidence to bring out the intentions of the parties, but nowhere does there appear a demand for a jury subsequent to the first appeal. See Morris Wood's affidavit (R-10001, p. 88); appellants' Motion to stay enforcement of judgment (R-10001, p. 86); affidavit of counsel for appellants (R-10001, p. 107); stipulation (R-10001, p. 107); stipulation (R-10001, p. 114); Objections to Amendment to Decree (R-10001, p. 153); Objections to Amendment of Decree (R-10001, p. 161); affidavit (R-9833, p. 34). Appellants' failure to demand a jury below, or give notice that one was desired was a waiver of any right they may have claimed to a jury trial and not having raised the question of a right to a trial by jury below, appellants may not raise such an issue for the first time on appeal.

A jury trial may be demanded only when issues of fact arise from the pleadings, 59 *C.J.S.* p. 739, fts. 99, 2 and 3. No such issues of fact have been before the lower court since the conclusion of the

first appeal herein, and consequently, appellants have had no right to a jury.

## POINT VI

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANTS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO INTEREST UNDER THE CONTRACTS.

The contracts before the Court provide that the sellers, appellants herein, were to retain all crops on property not fully paid for and released to the buyers, respondents. The referee specifically found that such provision was in lieu of interest that no interest could be charged beyond that (R-10001, p. 123, para. 8). This finding of the referee was specifically incorporated in the findings of the court. (R-10001, p. 157, para. g).

This interpretation is substantiated in the original opinion of the above-entitled Court (R-9833, p. 14) where it is stated:

“Defendants testified that they did not read the contract but understood from the oral representation of plaintiff that: . . . (2) they were to have full use of all the land until fully paid for in lieu of the payment of interest . . .”

Interest is payable on a contract only when a contract so provides. It is untenable to suppose that respondents should be required to allow appellants to retain possession of the land and the crops, and in addition, be required to pay interest on the unpaid contract balance.

The authority cited under Point 6 of appellants' brief, *Wasatch Mining Company vs. Crescent Mining Co.*, 7 U. 8, 24 P. 586 (1890) sets forth the general rule in Utah that interest may be allowed on debts overdue, even in the absence of a statute or a contract providing therefor. Respondents do not quarrel with this citation of the Utah Law, but point out to the Court that the *Wasatch* case is inapplicable to the case at bar for the reason that there is no overdue debt involved upon which the court could have allowed interest to accrue. Obviously, the unpaid contract balance is not due except as and when the annual \$5,000.00 installment payments fall due on December 31 of each calendar year (R-10001, p. 156, para. f). As stated in Point II above, however, respondents have repeatedly made timely tender to appellants so that at no time has there been any amount of the purchase price provided in said contract which could be said to be past due, and as to which interest could accrue.

The following extracts from the transcript of trial further demonstrate the agreement between the parties that appellants were to retain crops in lieu of interest:

Page 63, lines 19-22:

"A. Mr. Wood did say, 'I didn't have you any interest.' Mr. Rubey says, 'Inasmuch as you are farming the ground, well, I didn't figure I should pay any interest.' And Mr. Wood said that was all right."

Page 15, lines 17-24:

“Q. Did you have a discussion with regard to interest?”

“A. He didn’t want to pay interest. I thought inasmuch as I was cropping the land it would be all right.”

“Q. Because you would have the use and he wouldn’t be required to pay interest on the unpaid balance?”

“A. Yes.”

“Q. Is that what was said between you?”

“A. Yes.”

Page 19, lines 2-4:

“Q. Did you discuss the interest angle?”

“A. I left the interest out inasmuch as I was keeping the farm to crop. I thought that would be all right.”

The lower court, in considering the contracts before it, properly observed that prior to full payment for any portion of the land, crops were to be retained by appellants, and as to said land, the portion of the purchase price pertaining thereto, could bear no interest. Subsequent to payment in cash in full for a portion of the land to be conveyed, and upon proper notice and subsequent conveyance thereof to respondents, appellants would have received full payment, in cash, and consequently no interest could accrue on an amount already paid in full.

## POINT VII

THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY CONSOLIDATED CIVIL ACTION NO. 139263 WITH NO.

124832 AND PROPERLY DISMISSED NO. 139263.

In Civil Action No. 139263, filed with the lower court appellants sought a Declaratory Judgment asking the court to determine that the contracts which are the subject of this action, were void by reason of alleged breach. Appellants also asked for an injunction against the Rubeyes to restrain them from proceeding with their Order to Show Cause in Civil Action No. 124832 from which these appeals were taken. This was but another attempt on the part of appellants to obtain a review of matters theretofore already conclusively adjudicated.

If appellants objected to the Order to Show Cause proceedings in the case at bar, they should have filed their objections thereto in the instant case. The legal issues attempted to be raised in the declaratory judgment action No. 139263, if any such issues existed, were barred by res judicata as a result of the first Supreme Court ruling in this matter (R-9833, p. 14). In the Decree of the lower Court (R-9833, p. 43) paragraph one states:

“Civil Action 139263 be and the same is hereby consolidated with Civil Action No. 124832, the above entitled action, and after such consolidation, the Motion of the plaintiffs herein, defendants in said action, for dismissal thereof, is granted in said action, Civil No. 139263 and the whole thereof is hereby dismissed.”

Appellants took no appeal from said Decree which is therefore not before this Court. Appellants



may not properly incorporate into this proceeding an appeal from action of the court in Civil No. 139263, from which no proper appeal was taken, and the time for which appeal has elapsed.

Appellants in their brief refer to a "statutory right to amend." Counsel for respondents are aware of no statutory right to amend a pleading. Perhaps appellants have in mind Rule 15(a) *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*, which states: "A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served. . . ."

It is conceded in Civil No. 139263 that appellants would have had a right, as a matter of course, to amend their Complaint at any time before a responsive pleading was served by respondents. However, respondents did enter a responsive pleading in the form of a Motion to Dismiss, which Motion was granted by the court. This foreclosed any right appellants may have had to amend their pleadings under Rule 15(a).

The matter of granting relief under 15(a) rests largely within the sound discretion of the Court, to which the application is made, and its rulings with respect thereto will not ordinarily be disturbed unless it has been made apparent that the Court has abused such discretion. *Johnson vs. Continental Casualty Co.*, 78 U. 18, 22; 300 P. 1032 (1931). The purported issues in Civil No. 139263 were the same as issues either already adjudicated or then pending in the instant case. The two cases pre-

sent a situation squarely within the scope of Rule 42(a) *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* providing for the consolidation of actions. The lower court, therefore, acted soundly with its discretion in consolidating Civil No. 139269 with No. 124832 and thereafter dismissing 139269, and no showing is made in appellants' brief that the court abused its discretion in that regard. Consequently the action of the lower court must stand.

Furthermore, appellants in that action, to-wit: No. 139269 for Declaratory Judgment, made no motion for leave to amend so they cannot now be heard to complain that such a motion was not granted.

Appellants further stated in their brief, "It was also error for the trial court to assume jurisdiction of a Motion to Dismiss a new case, as this matter should have gone before the regular Law and Motion Court for disposition." This statement is curious in that a motion signed by counsel for appellants appears in the record (R-9833, p. 366-37) as follows:

" . . . 3. That this Court direct a consolidation of the action brought by the above named defendants and against the plaintiffs, and being Civil No. 139263 in the above entitled Court, and also the action brought by the plaintiffs against the defendants and others, case number unknown, but which case was filed on October 4, 1962."

How can appellants who themselves moved to consolidate 139263 and 124832 now complain that the court granted the motion? Once the motion was

granted, the Motion to Dismiss filed in 139263 became a part of 124832 and was properly considered by the court as a part of the instant case. In any event, no appeal was taken from the order of dismissal.

Also, there is no merit to the claim that a Motion to Consolidate should have gone on the Law and Motion calendar when the Judge who was most familiar with the whole matter was Judge Anderson, who took the action complained of.

### POINT VIII

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DIRECTED THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO MAKE AND DELIVER A WARRANTY DEED TO THE RESPONDENTS SUBSEQUENT TO APPELLANTS' REFUSAL TO OBEY THE ORDER OF THE COURT TO EXECUTE SUCH DEED.

The power of the Court is set forth in the provisions of Title 78-7-17, Utah Code Annotated 1953, which defines the powers of every judicial officer, including the following:

“(2) To compel obedience to his lawful orders as provided by law.”

The Court is hereby granted inherent power to enforce its own decrees, including the ordering of the clerk to perform ministerial acts which the defendant has refused to do when ordered to do so. See *Love vs. Watkins*, 40 Cal. 547, 6 A.R. 624 (1871),

cited in *Bancroft, Pleading and Practice*, Vol. 7, p. 7380, note 18. In a specific performance action, if a party refuses to execute a deed, a commissioner may be appointed to execute it for him. Title 78-7-24, Utah Code Annotated 1953. When jurisdiction is by statute conferred on a court or judicial officer, all means necessary to declare it unto effect are also given, and in the exercise of jurisdiction. If the course of the proceeding is not specifically pointed out, any suitable process or mode of proceeding may be adopted which may appear most conformable to the spirit of the statute or rules of procedure.

The judgment on directed verdict entered by the lower court on the 1st day of December 1960, ordered the appellants specifically to perform the contracts according to their terms. After this judgment for specific performance was unanimously affirmed by the above Court appellants continued to repudiate the contracts and refused to perform them according to the Order of the Court. Following the Order to Show Cause proceedings, a Decree was entered by the court on the 27th day of November 1962, (R-9833, p. 43-5) wherein appellants were specifically ordered to execute a Warranty Deed to that portion of the total premises paid for by respondents with their \$15,000.00 payment. In the event of the failure of appellants to execute and deliver such deed, the court ordered that the clerk of the court should execute and deliver a deed to respondents. Thereafter, appellants in fact failed and refused to execute the deed, and upon application

by respondents to the court, the clerk of the court was ordered to execute and did in fact execute a Warranty Deed and deliver the same to respondents. (R-9823, p. 53.)

Rule 70, *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure* states:

“If a judgment directs a party to execute a conveyance of land or to deliver deeds or other documents or to perform any other specific act and the party fails to comply within the time specified, the Court may direct the act to be done at the cost of the disobedient party by some other person appointed by the Court and the act when so done has like effect as if done by the party. . . .”

It would certainly be futile for the State Legislature to grant authority to the Court to order specific performance of a contract without giving it the power to enforce its order.

Where a judgment directs a party to execute a conveyance of land and the party fails, the judge may appoint someone else to perform the act (See 7 *Moore's Fed. Practice*, 2504).

In ordering the clerk to perform the mechanical act of executing a deed which appellants had failed to execute, although specifically ordered to do so, the court below did no more than exercise its inherent power to enforce its own Decree.

Appellants in their brief at page 16 state the general rule to be that a judge is required to exercise his judicial authority in person without delegation

to another. In 16 C.J.S., Constitutional Law, Sec. 166, p. 844 is stated:

“Similarly there is no delegation of power in directing a master in chancery to make a conveyance in case of non-action of the party held by the Decree to convey, or to compute the amount due or determine other matters of fact.”

It was thus not a delegation of power by the lower court when it ordered the clerk to perform a ministerial act, i.e. execute a deed upon the failure and refusal of appellants to obey the court order to do so.

## POINT IX

IT WAS PROPER FOR THE LOWER COURT TO ORDER THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO SATISFY A JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS OF SUIT OUT OF THE DEPOSIT THAT HAD BEEN MADE TO THE CLERK OF THE COURT BY RESPONDENTS.

Appellants make no comment in their brief relating to their Point No. 9. No facts are referred to and no authorities are cited on that point. Point 9 therefore should be disregarded by the Court. See Point XI below.

By stipulation dated December 7, 1962, (R-9833, p. 46) appellants stipulated that “no objection will be made to the obtaining by plaintiffs by and through their attorneys of record of the sum

of \$1,764.00 from the clerk of the above entitled Court pursuant to the said Decree entered November 28, 1962," which was in full force and effect on the day that said funds were obtained from the clerk. Therefore, by reason of said Stipulation, appellants' Point No. 9 is not well taken and is improper.

Even if the Stipulation referred to above were not in the record, the court would nevertheless have had the power to order the clerk of the court to enforce the judgment of the court for attorneys' fees and costs in that such order is merely an exercise of the inherent power of the court to enforce its decrees and judgments (See Point VIII above).

The typewritten contract dated April 18, 1959 states as follows:

"... In the event either party violates any terms herein, the offended party shall have recourse to an attorney (sic), the costs of which shall be borne by the violating party."

Subsequent to the first appeal, on the 12th day of September 1962, the court entered an additional judgment in favor of respondents and against appellants for attorney's fees in the amount of \$500.00 in connection with the first appeal in this matter arising out of appellants' refusal to perform the contract as ordered by the court. No appeal was taken from the judgment for attorney's fees, and appellants thereby waived their objection that the court could not properly award attorney's fees during the

course of the proceedings and before a final determination of this appeal.

Based on said judgment, the clerk of the court issued a garnishment against Alvin Keddington, County Clerk, garnishee, to attach a \$15,000.00 fund held by the Court and deposited by respondents in Civil Action No. 139046. The garnishment was duly served and duly executed upon out of the funds held by the clerk. All of these procedures were clearly proper and within the powers of the court and clerk pursuant to law. The awarding of judgment for attorney's fees cannot be said to have deprived appellants of due process of law for they were awarded more than their day in court on the issue of the validity and enforceability of the contracts, including provision for attorney's fees. Such action by the court cannot be said to have prejudiced the rights of mortgagees who obtained mortgages from appellants subsequent to the original Decree of the court ordering specific performance. These mortgages had no claim to the funds held on deposit by the clerk of the court, and consequently any disposition of said funds by garnishment or court order could not in any way affect the rights of said mortgagees.

## POINT X

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY AWARDED JUDGMENT FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS BASED UPON THE TESTIMONY OF COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENTS.



The language contained in the typewritten contract quoted above with respect to attorney's fees, makes no reference to the reasonableness thereof and the lower court properly determined that the only evidence to support an award of attorney's fees which would be required by the court was evidence of the charge made by respondents' counsel. Testimony was taken under oath before the court from counsel for respondents as to the amount charged for attorney's fees, which testimony was uncontroverted.

To disallow attorney's fees because the word attorney is misspelled in the typewritten contract is too ridiculous to deserve comment.

## POINT XI

THE APPELLATE COURT SHOULD NOT GIVE CONSIDERATION TO APPELLANTS' BRIEF FOR THE REASON THAT IT STATES ONLY POINTS OF LAW AND MAKES NO REFERENCE TO ANY FACTS IN THE RECORD TO WHICH SUCH POINTS OF LAW MAY BE RELEVANT.

Throughout appellants' brief, random references to various authorities are made without reference to any facts in the record. By failing to relate the facts from the record to points of law quoted, appellants have waived any claim of error on the part of the lower court. In *Felkner vs. Smith*, 77 U. 410, 296 P. 776 (1931) at p. 48, an action founded upon a negotiable promissory note wherein the de-

fendant appealed from the judgment of the trial court in favor of plaintiff for the amount due upon the note, this Court stated that an assignment of error was not argued in appellants' brief and therefore it was deemed waived. Similarly, appellants herein have waived any claim of error they might have argued, had they done so sufficiently.

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